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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT Edmonton, Alberta

To the Shareholders of Turnium Technology Group Inc.
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Turnium Technology Group Inc. and its
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
September 30, 2023, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes in
deficiency and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of material accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as at September 30, 2023, and the
consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Company in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter - Material Uncertainty Relating to Going Concern

We draw your attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements, which describes
matters and conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainly that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2022 were audited by
another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on
February 23, 2023.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2023.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Emphasis of Matter - Material Uncertainty
Relating to Going Concern section of our report, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Revenue Recognition

(continues)



Independent Auditor's Report to the Shareholders of Turnium Technology Group Inc.
(continued)

We refer to the financial statement summary of significant accounting policies on revenue
recognition. During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company earned revenue from
several streams, inclusive of license fees, initial start-up fees, support services, host/cloud
services and the resale of hardware and software. These streams were recognized using the 5-
step framework under IFRS 15, which resulted in revenue being recognized either at the point of
sale, over the term of the contract or based on usage.

Revenue recognition was considered a key audit matter given the complexities involved under
IFRS 15 and the material impact on the financial statements if not properly applied. Reported
revenue recognized for the year was considered material at $5,212,633.

To address this risk of potential material misstatement, our audit procedures performed included:

e On a sample basis, obtained and inspected a combination of source documents including
contracts, invoices, usage reports, shipping documents and proof payments in order to
ensure that revenue was recognized within the correct period;

e Recalculated the deferred revenue schedule by assessing the audited opening balances, the
additions from new arrangements and the revenue recognized in the year;

e Detailed analysis of revenue and the timing of its recognition based on expectations derived
from industry knowledge and external market data, following up on variances from our
expectations; and

e Review of managements revenue recognition policy to ensure compliance with IFRS 15.
Goodwill Impairment Assessment

In accordance with I1AS 36 Impairment of Assets, management is required to test for impairment
annually, or when facts and circumstances suggest it may be impaired. The Company's
impairment test required management to make significant assumptions in determining the
recoverable amount. Management concluded that goodwill was not impaired.

We determined this as a key audit matter as it represented an area of significant risk of material
misstatement given the magnitude of the goodwill and the high degree of estimation uncertainty in
determining the recoverable amount. In addition, significant auditor judgment and specialized
skills and knowledge were required in evaluating the results of our audit procedures. We
performed the following procedures:

e Evaluated management's process and methodology;

e Tested the completeness and accuracy of data and reasonableness of assumptions used in
the Company's impairment assessment;

e Assessed the overall presentation and disclosure in the consolidated financial statements;

e Engaged an expert in valuation to act as an auditor's expert in evaluating managements
analysis.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Management Discussion and Analysis but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We obtained Management's Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor's
report. We have nothing to report in this regard.

(continues)



Independent Auditor's Report to the Shareholders of Turnium Technology Group Inc.
(continued)

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do
SO.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a
going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

(continues)



Independent Auditor's Report to the Shareholders of Turnium Technology Group Inc.
(continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstance, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Jane
Davidson.

Kosg Poymet CLP
Kingstén Ross Pasnak LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants




TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

September 30, September 30,

2023 2022
$ $
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 152,882 608,969
Amounts receivable (Note 7) 392,434 525,196
Prepaid expenses 226,847 166,510
Inventory 21,945 -
Total current assets 794,108 1,300,675
Non-current assets
Prepaid expenses 22,105 38,030
Right-of-use assets (Note 8) 654,876 684,634
Property and equipment (Note 9) 65,772 81,757
Intangible assets (Note 10) 230,086 270,819
Goodwill (Note 6) 1,137,158 1,137,158
Total assets 2,904,105 3,513,073
Liabilities and Deficiency
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 14) 1,634,252 1,396,163
Deferred revenue (Note 4(h)) 133,128 46,057
Due to related parties (Note 14) 695,569 85,871
Promissory notes (Note 13, 14) 400,000 400,000
Loans payable (Note 12) - 1,850,000
Lease liabilities (Note 11) 167,411 106,487
Total current liabilities 3,030,360 3,884,578
Non-current liabilities
Loans payable (Note 12) 419,029 152,268
Lease liabilities (Note 11) 553,266 601,821
Derivative warrant liabilities (Note 15) 5,676 338,845
Deferred tax liability (Note 26) 84,780 84,780
Total liabilities 4,093,111 5,062,292
Deficiency
Common shares (Note 16) 14,925,863 11,609,433
Other reserve 632,483 590,743
Warrant reserve (Note 17) 1,637,325 1,570,590
Share-based payment reserve (Notes 16 and 17) 5,066,489 4,122,571
Deficit (23,451,166) (19,442,556)
Total deficiency (1,189,006) (1,549,219)
Total liabilities and deficiency 2,904,105 3,513,073

Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1)
Commitments and contingencies (Note 20)
Subsequent events (Note 27)

Approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on January 29, 2024

“‘ERIN CAMPBELL”

‘DEREK SPRATT”

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements)



TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(Expressed in Canadian dollars except share amounts)

Year Ended Year Ended
September 30, September 30,
2023 2022
$ $
Revenue (Notes 4(h)) 5,212,633 5,155,039
Cost of goods sold (1,609,389) (1,458,529)
Gross profit 3,603,244 3,696,510
Expenses
Amortization (Note 9, 10) 61,953 60,335
Amortization of right-of-use assets (Note 8) 160,418 44,867
General and administrative (Note 22) 3,111,419 3,494,339
Research and development (Note 22) 1,208,287 1,198,326
Sales and marketing (Note 22) 1,919,383 1,824,283
Share-based compensation (Note 18) 951,516 2,132,972
Total operating expenses 7,412,976 8,755,122
Loss before other income (3,809,732) (5,058,612)
Other income (loss)
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of derivatives (Note 15) 333,169 492,436
Gain on extinguishment of derivative liability (Note 15) - 22,084
Gain on conversion of convertible promissory note (Note 12 (d)) - 115,814
Gain from extension of CEBA loan (Note 12 (a)) - 21,377
Loss on debt settlement (Note 12 (c), 14) (164,445) -
Foreign exchange gain 84,875 7,903
Interest and accretion expense (Note 23) (604,687) (1,220,992)
Financing costs (Note 12 (d)) - (95,696)
Scientific research & experimental development refund (Note 4(0)) 152,575 226,212
Listing expense (Note 5) (365) (1,798,463)
Other expense - (6,690)
Net loss before income taxes (4,008,610) (7,294,627)
Deferred income tax recovery (Note 26) - -
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year (4,008,610) (7,294,627)
Basic and diluted loss per common share (0.05) (0.12)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 74,303,162 61,613,713

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements)



TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Deficiency
For the Years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars except share amounts)

Common Share-based
Common Shares Shares Other Warrant Payment Total
Number Amount Subscribed Reserve Reserve Reserve Deficit Deficiency
# $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance, September 30, 2021 57,693,234 6,460,049 (100) 590,743 - 2,119,747 (12,147,929) (2,977,490)
Share-based compensation (Note 18) - - - - - 2,132,972 - 2,132,972
Derivative warrant reclassified (Note 15 (a)) - - - - 1,469,366 - - 1,469,366
Common shares issued for exercise of options
(Note 16) 805,731 130,148 - - - (130,148) - -
Common shares issued on conversion of debt
(Notes 11(d), 16) 2,408,262 1,181,957 - - - - - 1,181,957
Conversion of subscription receipts (Notes 5,
16) 5,910,627 3,309,951 - - - - - 3,309,951
Share issuance costs - (619,079) - - 101,224 - - (517,855)
Reverse acquisition (Note 5) 2,047,155 1,146,407 100 - - - - 1,146,507
Net loss and comprehensive loss - - - - - - (7,294,627)  (7,294,627)
Balance, September 30, 2022 68,865,009 11,609,433 - 590,743 1,570,590 4,122,571 (19,442,556) (1,549,219)
Share-based compensation (Note 18) - - - - 7,598 943,918 - 951,516
Share issuance costs 539,450 (275,036) - - 59,137 - - (215,899)
Equity component of convertible debenture ) ) ) 41,740 ) ) ) 41,740
(Note 16)
Common shares issued on settlement of debt 200,784 32,126 ) ) ) ) ) 32,126
(Note 16)
Subscriptions received (Note 16) 35,000,000 3,559,340 - - - - - 3,559,340
Net loss and comprehensive loss - - - - - - (4,008,610) (4,008,610)
Balance, September 30, 2023 104,605,243 14,925,863 - 632,483 1,637,325 5,066,489 (23,451,166) (1,189,006)

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements)



TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Year Ended Year Ended
September 30, September 30,
2023 2022
$ $
Operating activities
Net loss for the period (4,008,610)  (7,294,627)
Items not affecting cash:
Accretion (Note 12, 23) 128,271 887,923
Depreciation and amortization (Note 8, Note 9) 61,953 60,335
Amortization of right-of-use assets (Note 8) 160,418 44,867
Unrealized gain on extension of CEBA loan (Note 12(a)) - (21,377)
Loss (gain) on change in fair value of derivatives (Note 15) (333,169) (492,436)
Gain (loss) on debt settlement (Note 12) 164,445 -
Gain on extinguishment of derivative liability (Note 15) - (22,084)
Gain on conversion of convertible promissory note (Note 12) - (115,814)
Convertible loan interest (Note 23) - 42,467
Discount on convertible promissory note (Note 12) - 51,733
Share-based compensation (Note 18) 951,516 2,132,972
Listing expense, non-cash (Note 5) - 1,146,407
Changes in non-cash operating working capital:
Amounts receivable 132,762 (7,135)
Prepaid expenses (44,412) (167,672)
Inventory (21,945) -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 79,568 414,306
Deferred revenue 87,071 13,351
Net cash used in operating activities (2,642,132)  (3,326,784)
Investing activity
Purchase of property and equipment (Note 9) (5,235) (44,154)
Net cash used in investing activity (5,235) (44,154)
Financing activities
Proceeds from convertible promissory note (Note 12(f)) 276,500 1,081,750
Proceeds from issuance of subscription receipts (Notes 5, 16) 3,559,340 3,309,951
Share issuance costs (215,899) (517,855)
Proceeds from (repayments to) related parties 609,698 (456,691)
Shares issued for settlement of debt (Note 16) 32,126 181,957
Subscriptions received - 100
Repayment of debt (Note 12) (1,850,000) -
Lease payments (Note 11) (220,485) (51,651)
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,191,280 3,547,561
(Decrease) increase in cash (456,087) 176,623
Cash beginning of the period 608,969 432,346
Cash end of the period 152,882 608,969

Supplemental cash flow information (Note 24)

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements)



TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

1.

Nature of Operations and Going Concern

Turnium Technology Group Inc. (formerly RMR Science Technology Inc.) (the “Company”) was
incorporated on October 17, 2017, pursuant to the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (British
Columbia). The head office and registered and records office of the Company is located at 3355 Grandview
Hwy, Vancouver, British Columbia, V5M 1Z5.

On June 16, 2022 the Company completed a reverse acquisition transaction (the “Reverse Acquisition
Transaction” or “RTO”) with Turnium Technology Group, Inc. Pursuant to the Reverse Acquisition
Transaction, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding securities of Turnium Technology
Group, Inc., whereby former Turnium Technology Group, Inc. shareholders received one common share
of the Company for each Turnium Technology Group, Inc. common share held (Note 5). Upon closing of
the RTO, Turnium Technology Group, Inc. changed its name to Turnium Network Solutions Inc. (“TNSI”).

On June 16, 2022, immediately prior to closing the RTO, the Company consolidated its outstanding
common shares on the basis of five old shares for each one new share (on a post-consolidation basis, the
“Shares”). In conjunction with the closing of the RTO, the Company has changed its name to “Turnium
Technology Group Inc.” and its trading symbol to “TTGI”.

Effective at the opening, June 22, 2022, the Company’s common shares commenced trading under the
name Turnium Technology Group Inc. The Company is classified as a technology company and is listed
as a Tier 2 issuer on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”).

The Company’s subsidiary, TNSI, was formed by way of amalgamation on October 1, 2020 under the
Business Corporations Act (British Columbia).

On February 28, 2021, TNSI entered into a share purchase agreement with the shareholders of Tenacious
Networks Inc. (“TNET”), a company incorporated in the province of British Columbia in 2019, whereby
TNSI purchased 100% of the issued and outstanding common shares of TNET.

TNSI and its subsidiary are engaged in the provision of an SD-WAN business platform, professional IT
services and support, hardware sales and the resale of third-party services targeted at corporate clients.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2023 include the results of
operations of TNSI and TNET and the Company from October 1, 2022 .

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes
that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business. As of September 30, 2023, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $2,236,252 (2022
- $2,583,903), and accumulated deficit of $23,451,166 (2022 - $19,442,556), and during the year ended
September 30, 2023, the Company incurred a net loss of $4,008,610 (2022 - $7,294,627).

These factors, among others, indicate there are material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt as
to the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. Further, if the Company is unable to meet its
loan covenants due to its working capital deficiency, the lenders may call their loans. There can be no
assurances that sufficient equity can be raised on acceptable terms on a timely basis. Although the
Company has been successful in the past in obtaining financing, there is no assurance that it will be able
to obtain adequate financing in the future or that such financing will be on terms advantageous to the
Company.

These consolidated financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments which would be necessary
should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and, therefore, be required to realize its
assets and discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different
from those reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Such adjustments could be material.



TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2. Basis of Presentation

(a) Statement of Compliance and Principles of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
(“IFRIC”) on a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned

subsidiaries:

Name of Entity Place of Incorporation Ownership
Turnium Technology Group Inc. British Columbia, Canada Parent
Tenacious Networks Inc. (“TNET”) British Columbia, Canada 100%
Turnium Network Solutions Inc. (“TNSI”) British Columbia, Canada 100%

Subsidiaries are entities that the Company controls, either directly or indirectly. Control exists when
the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. All intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated upon consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for
issue on January 29, 2024.

(b) Basis of Measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
certain financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss, which are stated at their fair
value, and are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the functional currency of the parent and
subsidiaries of the Company. Additionally, these consolidated financial statements have been
prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow information and refundable tax
credits (Note 4(0)).

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during the period.

These estimates are, by their nature, uncertain. The impacts of such estimates are pervasive throughout
the consolidated financial statements, and may require accounting adjustments based on future
occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is
revised and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. These estimates are
based on historical experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management
has made at the reporting date that could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities include the following:



TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments (continued)

Significant accounting estimates:

i)

ii)

vi)

The useful life and recoverability of long-lived assets:

Management estimates the useful life of long-lived assets based on the period during which the assets
are expected to be available for use. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for depreciation
are affected by these estimated useful lives. The estimates are reviewed at least annually and are
updated if expectations change as a result of technical or commercial obsolescence, and legal or other
limits to use. It is possible that changes in these factors may cause significant changes in the estimated
useful lives of the Company’s long-lived assets in the future.

The assessment of impairment of long-lived assets is dependent upon estimates of recoverable
amounts that take into account factors such as economic and market conditions, timing of cash flows,
the useful lives of assets, and their related salvage values.

The useful life of property and equipment:

The Company estimates the useful lives and selects methods used to allocate amortization amounts
of property, equipment, and furniture on a systematic basis. Technical obsolescence of tangible assets
could significantly impact estimated residual useful lives and, in turn, carrying values being over or
understated. Where impairment is indicated, the Company estimates the fair value of the assets and
charges the difference between the fair value and the carrying amount, if any, to impairment expense.
The estimates of the useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed on an annual basis.
Depreciation or amortization is adjusted on a prospective basis, if and when required.

Convertible debts:

The convertible debts were separated into their liability and equity components on the consolidated
statements of financial position. The liability component is initially recognized at fair value, calculated
at the net present value of the liability based upon non-convertible debt issued by comparable issuers
and accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate
used is the estimated rate for non-convertible debt with similar terms at the time of issue. The
determination of the fair value of the liability and equity components are based on a number of
assumptions including contractual future cash flows, discount factors, and the presence of any
derivative instruments.

Valuation of intangibles and goodwiill:

The impairment test for cash generating units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill is allocated based on the
value in use of the CGU, determined in accordance with the expected cash flow approach. The
calculation is based on assumptions used to estimate future cash flows, the cash flow growth rate and
the discount rates. The Company exercises significant judgement in determining CGUs.

The inputs used in the valuation of share-based compensation:

The fair value of stock options granted and finders’ warrants are measured using a Black-Scholes
option pricing model. Measurement inputs include share price on measure date, exercise price of the
option, expected volatility, actual and expected life of the option, expected dividends based on the
dividend yield at the date of the grant, anticipated forfeiture rate, and the risk-free interest rate. In order
to estimate volatility, the Company uses companies with similar characteristics that have prices quoted
on an active exchange. The expected life of the options is based on historical experience and general
option holder behavior. The Company also makes an estimate of the number of options that will be
forfeited and the rate is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that vest. Consequently, the
actual share-based compensation expense may vary from the amount estimated.

Revenue recognition for special contracts and projects:

The Company has projects with multiple performance obligations that generally include subscriptions
for software and services. Estimates are required to determine the status of a project at each period-
end. The Company'’s revenue recognition policy is described in Note 4(h).



TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments (continued)

vii) Incremental borrowing rate:

The Company uses estimation in determining the incremental borrowing rate used to measure the
loan liabilities. This rate represents the rate that the Company would incur to obtain the funds
necessary to purchase the asset of a similar value, with similar payment terms and security in similar
economic environment.

viii) Allowance for credit losses:

The Company provides for doubtful debts by analyzing the historical default experience and current
information available about a customer’'s credit worthiness on an account-by-account basis.
Uncertainty relates to the actual collectability of customer balances that can vary from the Company’s
estimation. At September 30, 2023, the Company has an allowance for doubtful accounts of $Nil
(September 30, 2022 - $Nil).

Inventory:

Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average cost method. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less selling expenses. Inventory currently consists of sellable hardware. All
inventories are periodically reviewed for impairment due to slow-moving and obsolete inventory.
Provisions for obsolete, slow-moving or defective inventories are recognized in profit or loss. Previous
write-downs to net realizable value are reversed to the extent there is a subsequent increase in the
net realizable value of the inventories.

Significant areas of judgment include:

i)

i)

Application of the going concern assumption:

The assessment of whether the going concern assumption is appropriate requires management to
take into account all available information about the future, which is at least, but is not limited to, 12
months from the end of the reporting period. The Company is aware that material uncertainties related
to events or conditions may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. As discussed in Note 1, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the assumptions applicable to a going concern.

Business combinations:

Judgment is used in determining whether an acquisition is a business combination or an asset
acquisition. In a business combination, all identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities
acquired are recorded at their fair values. Assets are classified into one of three levels in the fair value
hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three
levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

e Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

e Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either
directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 - Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

In determining the allocation of the purchase price in a business combination, including any
acquisition related contingent consideration, estimates including market based and appraisal values
are used. The contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as
part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity.

Judgement is used in determining whether an amalgamation is to be accounted for as a merger or a
purchase. The Company has accounted for the amalgamation on October 1, 2020 as a merger of the
five predecessor companies under common control. Accordingly, all assets, liabilities, reserves and
operating results of the predecessor companies were combined at their existing carrying amounts at
the date of amalgamation and for the year ended September 30, 2020.
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TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments (continued)

ii)

v)

vi)

Revenue Recognition

With sales through third parties the Company determines whether the third party is acting as an agent
or a principal under these agreements. When deciding the most appropriate basis for presenting
revenue or costs of revenue, both the legal form and substance of the agreement between the
Company and its business partners are reviewed to determine each party's respective role in the
transaction. Where the Company's role in a transaction is that of principal, revenue is recognized on
a gross basis. This requires revenue to comprise the gross value of the transaction billed to the
customer, after trade discounts, with any related expenses of the third party charged as an operating
cost. Where the Company's role in a transaction is that of an agent, revenue is recognized on a net
basis with revenue representing the margin earned.

Leases:

The Company applies judgment in determining whether the contract contains an identified asset,
whether the Company has the right to control the asset, and the lease term. The lease term is based
on considering facts and circumstances, both qualitative and quantitative, that can create economic
incentive to exercise renewal options. Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and liabilities are recognized at
commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. ROU assets
represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities
represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. The Company
uses an implicit rate of interest to determine the present value of lease payments utilizing its
incremental borrowing rate, as the implicit rate of interest in the respective leases is not readily
determinable. The Company’s incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that a lessee would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.

Deferred tax assets:

The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognized is based on an assessment of the
probability of the Company generating future taxable income against which the deferred tax assets
can be utilized. In addition, significant judgment is required in classifying transactions and assessing
probable outcomes of tax positions taken, and in assessing the impact of any legal or economic limits
or uncertainties in various tax jurisdictions.

Allowance for uncollectible trade receivables:

The valuation of allowances for uncollectible trade receivables requires judgement involving estimated
credit losses based on customer, industry concentrations and the Company’s knowledge of the
financial conditions of its customers. Uncertainty relates to the actual collectability of customer
balances that can vary from management's estimates and judgment.

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(@)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers cash, cash held with financial institutions, and all highly liquid instruments
with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of issuance, are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash, and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, to be cash
equivalents.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the period-
end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported
at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined. Exchange differences arising on
the translation of monetary items or on settlement of monetary items are recognized in profit or loss.
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TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c) Financial Instruments

(i)

Recognition and initial measurement

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, amounts receivable, accounts payable, due
to related parties, promissory notes, loans payable, lease liabilities and derivative warrant
liabilities.

Amounts receivables are initially recognized when they are originated. All other financial assets

and liabilities are initially recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortized cost; fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) - debt investment; FVOCI - equity investment; or
FVTPL. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the
Company changes its business model for managing financial assets in which case all affected
financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in
the business model. The Company does not have any financial assets classified as FVTPL except
cash, or any financial assets classified as FVTOCI, but only those classified at amortized cost.

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at amortized cost: These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as
such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains
and losses, including any interest expense, are recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.

The Company’s financial liabilities of accounts payable, due to related parties, promissory notes,
loan payable, and lease liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost, and derivative
warrant liabilities are classified as FVTPL.
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TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(c) Financial Instruments (continued)
(iii) Derecognition
Financial assets

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset
are transferred or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. The Company enters
into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized in its consolidated statements of financial
position but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets.
In these cases, the transferred assets are not derecognized.

Financial liabilities

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire. The Company also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are
modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new
financial liability based on the modified terms is recognized at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is
recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that
are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s
procedures for recovery of amounts due.

(d) Impairment of Financial Assets

The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are
measured at amortized cost. At each reporting date, the Company measures the loss allowance for
the financial asset at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition. If at the reporting date, the financial
asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company measures the loss
allowance for the financial asset at an amount equal to the 12-month expected credit losses.

The Company recognizes in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, as an impairment
gain or loss, the amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust the loss
allowance at the reporting date to the amount that is required to be recognized.

(e) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of furniture and fixtures, and computer equipment and is recorded at
cost, including all costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition, and amortized
annually at following rates calculated to amortize the assets over their estimated useful lives:

Computer equipment 30% declining balance
Furniture and fixtures 20% declining balance

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication those assets have suffered an
impairment loss.
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TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(f)

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of customer lists acquired recorded at cost and amortized annually on a
straight-line basis over 15 years. The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis. At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of
its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. In addition, the Company has goodwill as an intangible asset with an
indefinite useful life.

(g) Business Combinations and goodwill

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. At the acquisition date, the
identifiable assets acquired, and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value, except
deferred tax assets or liabilities, which are recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12,
Income Taxes. Subsequent changes in fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition if they
qualify as measurement year adjustments. The measurement year is the year between the date of
acquisition and the date where all significant information necessary to determine the fair values is
available and cannot exceed 12 months. All other subsequent changes are recognized in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.

The purchase price allocation process resulting from a business combination requires management to
estimate the fair value of identifiable assets acquired including intangible assets and liabilities assumed
including any contingently payable purchase price obligation due over time. The Company uses
valuation techniques, which are generally based on forecasted future net cash flows discounted to
present value. These valuations are closely linked to the assumptions used by management on the
future performance of the related assets and the discount rates applied. The determination of fair value
involves making estimates relating to acquired intangibles assets, property and equipment and
contingent consideration.

In certain situations, goodwill or a bargain purchase gain may result from a business combination.
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the consideration transferred over the net amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the excess
is recognized immediately in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss as a bargain
purchase gain. Acquisition related costs are recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss as incurred. Goodwill is assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting
date and is tested annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of goodwill exceeds its recoverable amount.

(h) Revenue

The Company accounts for revenue under IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which
establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers:

¢ identify the contract with a customer;

¢ identify the performance obligations in the contract;

e determine the transaction price, which is the total consideration provided by the customer;

e allocate the transaction price among the performance obligations in the contract based on

their relative fair values; and
e recognize revenue when the relevant criteria are met for each performance obligation.

The Company has several sources of revenue. Revenue is earned from the grant of non-exclusive,
non-transferrable licenses to service providers to use the Company's SD-WAN business platform (the
"Platform"). Pursuant to the licensing agreements, the Company charges an initial start-up fee and a
license fee for software license units that covers the licensing of all of the software comprised in the
Platform. Revenue from license fees is generally earned over time and is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the term of the contract. Revenue from initial start-up fees is recognized when the set-up
process is complete and the customer has full access to the software.
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TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4,

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(h) Revenue (continued)

Revenue is also earned through the sale of onsite and remote support, host/cloud services, and the
resale of both hardware and software. Revenue from onsite and remote support are generally earned
at a point in time and are recognized at the point in time when the support services have been
completed. Certain onsite and remote support is sold on a block of hours basis and is recognized
proportionately between the number of hours provided out of the pre-purchased block of hours.

Revenue from host/cloud services are generally earned over time and are recognized using the output
method based on time elapsed. Revenue from the resale of hardware and software are generally
earned at a point in time and is recognized when the product has been delivered to the customer.
Revenue from the resale of software licenses are recognized at a point in time on a net amount
basiswhich is the amount billed to a customer less the amount paid to the software license provider,
as inventory risk, credit risk and control is directly transferred,. During the year ended September 30,
2023, the Company recognized $42,103 as agent revenues (2022 - $74,364) (Note 3(iii)).

Payments received in advance are recorded as deferred revenue and brought into revenue at the
beginning of each month as subscription time elapses or as services are delivered. At September 30,
2023, the Company recognized $133,128 (September 30, 2022 - $46,057) in deferred revenue
represented by the pre-purchase of block hours for onsite and remote support not utilized by the end
of the period along with the sale of hardware not delivered to the customer by the end of the period.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If indicators exist, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amounts of the following types of intangible assets
are measured annually whether or not there is any indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its
fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets
that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of
other assets or groups of assets (the cash-generating unit, or “CGU”).

The Company’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that
a corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which
the corporate asset belongs. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its
CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.
Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the
unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

In respect of assets other than intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, impairment losses
recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.
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4,

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

()

Leases

For contracts entered into subsequent to October 1, 2019 at inception of the contract, the Company
assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease by evaluating if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset. For contracts that contain a lease, the Company recognizes a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted by any initial
direct costs, and costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset less any lease incentives. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the underlying asset or the end of the lease term.

Under IFRS 16, right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with 1AS 36, Impairment
of Assets.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of lease payments to be paid subsequent
to the commencement date of the lease, discounted either at the interest rate implicit in the lease or
the Company's incremental borrowing rate. The lease payments measured in the initial lease liability
include payments for an optional renewal period, if any, if the Company is reasonably certain that it
will exercise a renewal extension option. The liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method and will be remeasured when there is a change in either the future lease payments or
assessment of whether an extension or other option will be exercised. The lease liability is
subsequently adjusted for lease payments and interest on the obligation. Interest expense on the lease
obligation is included in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.

The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with a
lease term of less than 12 months and for low value leases and recognizes the lease payments
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, as permitted
by IFRS 16.

(k) Share-based Payments

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognized as a
share-based compensation expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the
employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The amount recognized as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting
conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognized as an expense is based
on the number of awards that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the
vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value
of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for
differences between expected and actual outcomes.

Where equity instruments are granted to parties other than employees, they are recorded by reference
to the fair value of the services received. If the fair value of the services received cannot be reliably
estimated, the Company measures the services received by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, measured at the date the counterparty renders service.

All equity-settled share-based payments are reflected in share-based payment reserve, until
exercised. Upon exercise, shares are issued from treasury and the amount reflected in share-based
payment reserve is credit to share capital, adjusted for any consideration paid.

Research and Development

Expenditures on research activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical
knowledge and understanding are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Development activities
involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes.
Development expenditures are capitalized only if development costs can be measured reliably, the
product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable,
and the Company intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell
the asset. No development costs have been capitalized to date.
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4,

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(m) Income Taxes

(n)

()

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit
or loss except to the extent that they relate to a business combination, or items recognized directly in
equity or in the other comprehensive loss. Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated
income taxes payable or receivable on taxable income or loss for the current year and any adjustments
to income tax payable in respect of previous years. Current income taxes are determined using tax
rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amounts of an asset or liability
differs from its tax base, except for the taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition
of goodwill and temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary
differences is restricted to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized. At the end of each reporting period, the Company
re-assesses unrecognized deferred tax assets. The Company recognizes a previously unrecognized
deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Loss per Share

Basic loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. The treasury stock method is used for the calculation of diluted loss per share,
whereby all “in the money” stock options and share purchase warrants are assumed to have been
exercised at the beginning of the period and the proceeds from their exercise are assumed to have
been used to purchase common shares at the average market price during the period. When a loss is
incurred during the period, the exercise of stock options and share purchase warrants is considered
to be anti-dilutive and basic and diluted loss per share are the same. As at September 30, 2023, the
Company has 56,263,993 (September 30, 2022 - 15,373,304) potentially dilutive shares which were
anti-dilutive.

Refundable tax credits

The Government of Canada provides refundable tax credits to qualifying companies engaged in
Scientific Research and Experimental Development (“SRED”) activities, as that term is defined in the
Income Tax Act (Canada). The Company records 100% of its claim for such credits in profit or loss
during the period in which the claim filed with the taxation authorities has been accepted and the tax
credits have been received. Subsequent amendments or adjustments to such claims, if any, are
recorded as they occur. The Company received an SRED refund of $152,575 during the year ended
September 30, 2023 (2022 - $226,212).

Convertible debts

Convertible loans are separated into their liability and equity components on the consolidated
statements of financial position. The liability component is initially recognized at fair value, determined
as the net present value of future payments of interest and principal, discounted at the market rate
for similar non-convertible liabilities at the time of issue. The liability component is recognized at
amortized cost, using the effective interest method, until extinguished upon conversion or maturity. If
a security or instrument becomes convertible only upon the occurrence of a future event outside the
control of the Company, or, is convertible from inception, but contains conversion terms that change
upon the occurrence of a future event, then any contingent beneficial conversion feature is measured
and recognized when the triggering event occurs and contingency has been resolved. The fair value
of the equity component of the convertible loan is estimated using the residual method in which the
difference between the face value of the instrument and the fair value of the debt component is
allocated as the fair value of the equity component.
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4,

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(9) Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance

The Company classifies forgivable loans, or the forgivable portion thereof, from the government as
government assistance when there is a reasonable assurance that the Company will meet the terms
for forgiveness on the loan. If this threshold is not met, the Company classifies forgivable loans as
loan payable, measured initially at fair value in accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments.

(r) Warrants

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares and
warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first allocates value to the
more easily measurable component based on fair value and then the residual value, if any, to the less
easily measureable component. The fair value of the common shares issued in a private placement
is determined to be the more easily measurable component and are valued at their fair value, as
determined by the closing quoted bid price on the day prior to the announcement date. The balance,
if any, is allocated to the attached warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as
share-based payments reserve.

In accordance with IFRS, a contract to issue a variable number of shares fails to meet the definition
of equity and must instead be classified as a derivative liability and measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss at each
period-end. The derivative liabilities will ultimately be converted into the Company’s equity (common
shares) when the warrants are exercised, or will be extinguished on the expiry of the outstanding
warrants, and will not result in the outlay of any cash by the Company. Immediately prior to exercise,
the warrants are remeasured at their estimated fair value. Upon exercise, the intrinsic value is
transferred to share capital (the intrinsic value is the share price at the date the warrant is exercised
less the exercise price of the warrant). Any remaining fair value is recorded through the consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss as part of the change in estimated fair value of derivative warrant
liabilities.

(s) Accounting standards and amendments issued

Accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued but
have future effective dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

5. Reverse Takeover Transaction

Pursuant to an amalgamation agreement entered into on December 21, 2021 (the “Amalgamation
Agreement”), effective June 16, 2022 the Company acquired 100% the issued and outstanding securities
of TNSI resulting in an RTO and completed a private placement of subscription receipts (the
“Transaction”).

In connection with the Transaction, immediately prior to the effective date, the Company consolidated its
shares on the basis of one post consolidation share for each five pre-consolidation shares. Immediately
prior to completion of the Amalgamation Agreement, the Company had 2,047,155 common shares
outstanding. Upon completion of the Transaction, the Company changed its name from RMR Science
Technology Inc. to Turnium Technology Group Inc.

Effective April 8, 2022, in connection with the Transaction, TNSI completed a brokered private placement
of 5,910,627 subscription receipts at a price of $0.56 per subscription receipt for gross proceeds of
CAD#$3,309,951. Each subscription receipt was automatically converted into one common share and one
half of one common share purchase warrant. Each whole share purchase warrant is convertible at the
option of the holder into one common share of the Company until April 8, 2024 at a price of $0.75 per
share.
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5. Reverse Takeover Transaction (continued)

Upon closing the Transaction, the Company issued 5,910,627 common shares in exchange for TNSI
common shares issued in connection with the conversion of the subscription receipts.

Share issuance costs of $619,061 include fees and commissions in the amount of $220,210, agents’
expenses of $179,620, 229,649 broker warrants with a fair value of $101,224 and legal and filing costs of
$118,007. Each broker warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one unit at a price of CAD$0.56
per unit for a period of two years from the closing of the subscription receipt financing. Each unit is
convertible at no additional cost into one common share and one half of one common share purchase
warrant. Each whole common share purchase warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share
at an exercise price of $0.75 per share for a period of two years from the closing of the subscription receipt
financing.

The broker warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model and the assumptions
used in the pricing model were as follows: risk-free interest rate - 2.35%; expected life - 2 years; expected
volatility - 103.71%; expected forfeitures - $nil%; and expected dividends - $nil.

As a result of the Transaction, the shareholders of TNSI, including the holders of the subscription receipts,
gained control of the Company through the acquisition of approximately 97% of the common shares of
the combined entity and the transaction has been accounted for as an RTO where TNSI is the accounting
acquirer. Stock options and common share purchase warrants of TNSI were exchanged for the equivalent
number of securities of the Company. Immediately prior to closing, TNSI had 66,492,926 common shares
issued and outstanding after having given effect to the conversion of subscription receipts resulting in the
issuance of 5,910,627 common shares and the conversion of a convertible note resulting in the issuance
of 2,083,334 shares. The RTO has been accounted for as a share-based payment transaction under IFRS
2 Shared-based payment, on the basis that RMR Science Technology Inc. was a Capital Pool Company
and did not meet the definition of a business as it had no ongoing business operation.

As TNSI is deemed to be the acquirer for accounting purposes, its assets, liabilities and operations since
incorporation are included in these consolidated financial statements at their historical carrying values.
RMR Science Technology Inc.’s results of operations have been included from June 16, 2022, the date
of the RTO. For purposes of this transaction, the consideration received was the fair value of the net
assets and liabilities of the Company which on June 16, 2022 was ($159,315).

This amount was calculated as follows:

$
Fair value of 2,047,155 shares of RMR Science Technology Inc. 1,146,407
Total fair value of consideration paid 1,146,407
Cash 24,487
GST receivable 15,726
Prepaid expense 4,095
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (203,624)
Net liabilities assumed (159,315)
Consideration paid in excess of assets acquired: 1,305,723
Other listing expense:
Legal and professional fees 434,331
Filing fees 58,409
Total listing expense 1,798,463

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized listing expenses of $365.
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6. Acquisition

On February 28, 2021, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Share Purchase
Agreement”) with the shareholders of Tenacious Networks Inc. (“TNET”), whereby the Company
purchased 100% of the issued and outstanding common shares of TNET. In consideration, the Company
issued 6,343,916 common shares of the Company to the shareholders of TNET with a fair value of
$2,700,000 and entered into a promissory note with the shareholders of TNET for a principal amount of
$300,000 (Note 13(a)). The shareholders of TNET consisted of a company controlled by the former
President of TNET and a company controlled by the CEO of the Company. As TNET meets the IFRS 3,
Business Combinations, definition of a business the acquisition was accounted for as a business
combination and measured at the fair value of consideration paid of $3,000,000. TNET is engaged in the
provision of professional IT services and support, hardware sales and resell of third party services targeted
at corporate clients.

In accordance with the acquisition method of accounting, the acquisition cost had been allocated on a
preliminary basis to the identifiable underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based upon their
estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. The purchase price allocation at February 28, 2021 was
preliminary and the determination of the final working capital adjustment, the identification of any intangible
assets and the finalization of the value of goodwill remained provisional. If new information obtained within
one year of the date of acquisition about facts and circumstances that existed at the date of acquisition
identified adjustments to the above amounts, or any additional provisions that existed at the date of
acquisition, then the accounting for the acquisition would be revised. No such information was obtained
and, therefore, no revision to the acquisition cost was made.

The purchase price allocation for the acquisition of TNET is summarized as follows:

$

Fair value of TNET’s net assets acquired:
Cash 77,646
Amounts receivable 172,518
Other current assets 1,133
Intangible assets 611,000
Goodwill 2,582,027
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (37,615)
Due to related parties (202,906)
Deferred revenue (38,833)
Deferred tax liability (164,970)
Total fair value of TNET’s net assets acquired 3,000,000

The resulting goodwill represents the sales and growth potential of TNET and will not be deductible for tax
purposes. The Company tests for impairment annually on September 30, and between annual tests if the
Company becomes aware of an event or a change in circumstances that would indicate the carrying value
may be impaired. The Company completed its annual impairment test and engaged an independent third
party to assist with the valuation of the TNET business, including related goodwill and intangible assets
(Note 10), as of September 30, 2023, using the fair value. The valuation estimated the fair value of goodwiill
to be $1,137,158 (September 30, 2022 - $1,137,158) using an income approach with assumptions that are
considered level 3 inputs and concluded that the carrying value of the TNET business exceeded its
recoverable amount, resulting in a goodwill impairment of $nil during the year ended September 30, 2023
(2022 - $Nil).

The fair value of the TNET business was determined primarily by discounting estimated future cash flows
over five years, which were determined based on revenue and expense growth assumptions ranging from
2% to 9%, at a weighted average cost of capital (discount rate) ranging from 16% to 18%.
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7. Accounts Receivable

Balance, Balance,

September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

$ $

Trade receivables 351,609 497,343
Taxes receivable 40,825 27,853
392,434 525,196

8. Right-of-use Assets

The Company’s right-of-use assets consists of two separate lease agreements for office space and an
equipment lease. The leases have various escalation clauses. Refer to Note 11 for associated lease
liabilities at the reporting date.

Right-of-use
assets
$
Cost:
Balance, September 30, 2021 -
Additions 729,501
Balance, September 30, 2022 729,501
Additions 130,660
Balance, September 30, 2023 860,161
Right-of-use
Assets
$
Accumulated amortization:
Balance, September 30, 2021 -
Additions 44,867
Balance, September 30, 2022 44,867
Additions 160,418
Balance, September 30, 2023 205,285
Net book value:
Balance, September 30, 2022 684,634
Balance, September 30, 2023 654,876
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9. Property and Equipment

Furniture and Computer
Fixtures  Equipment Total
$ $ $
Cost:
Balance, September 30, 2021 49,152 31,494 80,646
Additions 16,250 27,904 44,154
Balance, September 30, 2022 65,402 59,398 124,800
Additions - 5,235 5,235
Balance, September 30, 2023 65,402 64,633 130,035
Accumulated amortization:
Balance, September 30, 2021 16,730 9,159 25,889
Additions 6,936 10,218 17,154
Balance, September 30, 2022 23,666 19,377 43,043
Additions 8,348 12,872 21,220
Balance, September 30, 2023 32,013 32,249 64,262
Net book value:
Balance, September 30, 2022 41,736 40,022 81,757
Balance, September 30, 2023 33,389 32,383 65,772

10. Intangible Assets

Customer Lists

$
Cost:
Balance, September 30, 2021 611,000
Additions -
Balance, September 30, 2022 & 2023 611,000
Accumulated amortization:
Balance, September 30, 2021 297,000
Additions 43,181
Balance, September 30, 2022 340,181
Additions 40,733
Balance, September 30, 2023 380,914
Net book value:
Balance, September 30, 2022 270,819
Balance, September 30, 2023 230,086

At September 30, 2023, the Company determined the fair value of Customer Lists to be $230,086
(September 30, 2022 - $270,819). As a result, the Company recognized impairment of intangible assets

of $nil (2022 - $Nil).
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11. Lease Liabilities

The lease liability, which consists of the present value of minimum lease payments for office space and
equipment lease, has been discounted using a 12.75% and 15% interest rate respectively.

$
Balance, September 30, 2021 -
Additions 729,501
Accretion of interest 30,458
Lease payments (51,651)
Balance, September 30, 2022 708,308
Additions 130,660
Accretion of interest 102,194
Lease payments (220,484)
Balance, September 30, 2023 720,678
The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments:
Fiscal year ending September 30: $
2024 261,836
2025 266,232
2026 250,713
2027 150,672
Net minimum lease payments 929,453
Amount representing interest (208,776)
Present value of minimum lease payments 720,677
Less: current portion (167,411)
Long-term portion 553,266

12. Loans Payable
September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

$ $

Canada Emergency Business Account loans payable (a) 180,000 180,000
Shareholder loan payable (b) - -
Loans payable (c) (d) (e) (f) 239,029 1,850,000
Sub-total 419,029 2,030,000
Less: debt discount - (27,732)
Balance, net 419,029 2,002,268
Less: current portion - 1,850,000
Long-term portion 419,029 152,268
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12. Loans Payable (continued)

a)

The Company received Canada Emergency Business Account (“CEBA”) loans in three equal
instalments for an aggregate amount of $180,000 funded by the Government of Canada. The loans
are interest-free and may be repaid any time before January 18, 2024, at which time, if unpaid, the
remaining balance will convert to a 3-year term loan at an interest rate of 5% per annum. If the
Company repays these loans prior to January 18, 2024, there will be loan forgiveness of 33% of the
loan repaid, up to a maximum of $60,000 if all loan instalments are repaid. Although the maximum
forgivable portion of the loans of $60,000 is not repayable if the Company repays the amount of
$120,000 by January 18, 2024, this amount will be recognized in income when the Company has
reasonable assurance that the terms of early repayment of this aid will be complied with.

This liability is recognized in accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, as a financial liability at
amortized cost. The benefit of below-market rate shall be measured as the difference between the
initial carrying value of the loan (being the present value of a similar loan at market rates) and the
proceeds received.

The Company has estimated the initial carrying value of the CEBA loans at $137,725, using a discount
rate of 12.68%, which was the estimated rate for a similar loan without the interest-free component.
The total difference of $42,275 is accreted to each CEBA loan liability of the term of the CEBA loan
and offset to other income on the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.

At September 30, 2023 the Company reported the carrying value of these loans at $ $180,000
(September 30, 2022 - $152,268) and recognized loan accretion for the year ended September 30,
2023 of $27,732 (2022 - $18,538). As at September 30, 2023, the Company had not made any
repayments of the CEBA loans. The Company does not expect these loans to be repaid by the
deadline of January 18, 2024, so the carrying value of these loans is the face value.

On May 14, 2020, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a shareholder of the Company for
proceeds of $18,250. The loan is unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on the earlier of (i) May 1,
2025 (i) upon completion of any financing in excess of $2,000,000 or (iii) cash on hand in excess of
$500,000. On June 27, 2022 the loan was repaid.

On July 30, 2021, the Company entered into a loan agreement with two creditors (the “Lenders”) for a
maximum principal amount of $1,850,000 bearing interest at 12.75% per annum and maturing on July
30, 2024. The loans have certain financial covenants including, but not limited to, requiring the
Company to maintain a minimum level of cash to fund operations and an escalating level of recurring
revenue, failing which it may call its loans. Upon closing, the Company issued 1,730,797 share
purchase warrants to the Lenders as additional compensation. Each share purchase warrant is
exercisable at $0.48 per warrant on or before July 30, 2027, subject to early expiry. In the event that
the common shares of the Company trade on a public exchange at a 30-day volume weighted average
price of $1.25 per share, the Company may accelerate the expiry date of the warrants by giving 30
days written notice to the Lenders (Note 15(b)).

The loan was subject to an underwriting fee of $37,000, certain prepayment fees, various financial
covenants, and a general security agreement. The Company must make monthly interest payments,
and was required to make a mandatory principal payment of $850,000 on the 6-month anniversary of
the closing date (January 31, 2022), which shall not be subject to prepayment fees. Proceeds of
$1,750,000 of this loan were used as part of the settlement of loans payable.

The Company incurred debt financing costs totaling $806,684, which included $99,843 of legal fees
and $706,841 relating to the fair value of 1,730,797 share purchase warrants. The debt financing costs
are amortized over the term of the loan at the effective interest rate.

On April 8, 2022, the Lenders agreed to extend the mandatory principal payment of $850,000 to May
31, 2023. The Company incurred fees associated with the extension in the amount of $37,893.
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12. Loans Payable (continued)

c)

On November 25, 2022, the Company renegotiated its $1.85-million loan agreement with the Lenders
Under the terms of the amended loan agreement, the maturity date has moved from July 30, 2024, to
June 30, 2023. Financial performance covenants have been replaced with a minimum cash balance
on hand of $350,000.

On May 17, 2023, the company entered into a fourth amending agreement with the Lenders to extend
the maturity date of the Company's term loan from March 31, 2023, to July 31, 2023. Under the terms
of the agreement, the parties have also agreed to adjust certain debt covenants to better meet the
near-term capital requirements of the company. The term loan will continue to bear interest at a rate
of 12.75% per annum, payable monthly until its maturity on July 31, 2023.

The Company modified the existing 1,730,797 non-transferable warrants to entitle the Lenders to
purchase an aggregate of 2,775,001 common shares at a price of $0.20 per share until the earlier of:
(i) one year from the date of issuance; and (ii) a date which the company elects, on 30 days written
notice to the lenders, if the common shares have traded on a public exchange (including the TSX
Venture Exchange) at a volume-weighted average price equal to or greater than $0.60 per share for a
period of at least 10 consecutive trading days.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized accretion expense of $Nil (2022
- $778,567), interest expense of $196,455 (2022 - $235,875) and a loss on debt settlement of $5,924
(2022 - $Nil). During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company repaid the principal amounting
to $1,850,000. As at September 30, 2023, a total of $Nil (September 30, 2022 - $1,850,000) is
outstanding for principal, net of unamortized discount of $Nil (September 30, 2022 - $Nil).

On December 1, 2021, the Company issued a convertible promissory note in the amount of
$1,000,000. The Promissory Note bears simple interest at a rate of 1% per month, increasing by 0.10%
every three months (resulting in first year interest rate of 13.8%; and second year interest rate of
18.6%), payable monthly and is due on November 30, 2024. The principal portion and any unpaid
interest may be converted at the option of the holder into common shares of the Company at a price
equal to the lesser of $0.48 per share or 15% discount to the lowest equity issuance round up to and
including the equity round of the qualifying transaction.

As further consideration for the Promissory Note the Company issued 500,000 share purchase
warrants, each entitling the holder to acquire one common share of the Company at a price equal to
the lesser of $0.48 per share or 15% discount to the lowest equity issuance round up to and including
the equity round of the qualifying transaction for a period of 36 months. Effective April 8, 2022, the
Company completed the equity round of the qualifying transaction at a price of $0.56 per share,
resulting in the warrant exercise price being fixed at $0.48 per share.

The warrants are subject to earlier accelerated exercise if the shares have traded and continue to
trade on a public exchange at a 30-day volume-weighted average purchase price per share of $1.25.

The warrant holders shall have the right to pay all or a portion of the Purchase Price (exercise price
multiplied by the number of shares being exercised) by making a cashless exercise. In a cashless
exercise, the portion of the Purchase Price shall be paid by reducing the number of warrant shares
otherwise issuable pursuant to the notice of cash exercise by an amount equal to: exercise price to be
so paid divided by the fair market value per warrant share determined by the Board of Directors of the
Company as of the business day immediately preceding the date of exercise. Due to the variable
number of shares that may be issued for the warrant and the conversion feature, the Company has
recorded these as derivative liabilities. (Note 15(c)).

The Company allocated $634,742 to the embedded conversion feature of the Promissory Note,
$152,338 to the fair value of the 500,000 share purchase warrants, with $95,695 expensed as
financing costs and $55,643 capitalized as debt issuance costs (Notes 15(c), 17) and $365,258 to the
liability component of the Promissory Note.
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12. Loans Payable (continued)

e) On April 4, 2022, the Company issued 2,083,334 common shares at a price of $0.48 for conversion of

the promissory note. On conversion of the promissory note the embedded conversion feature with a
carrying value of $709,112 was extinguished, the debt discount of $51,733 was realized resulting in a
gain on conversion of $115,814. The 500,000 share purchase warrants remain outstanding as at
September 30, 2023 at a carrying value of $1,873 (2022 - $40,844).

The following table summarizes accounting for the convertible promissory note during the year ended
September 30, 2023:

Accrued Liability Equity
Convertible promissory note Interest Component Component
$ $ $
Balance, September 30, 2021 - - -
Additions - 365,258 634,742
Interest accretion - 41,444 -
Change in fair value of derivative - - 74,370
Accrued interest 42,467 - -
Repayment (40,000) - -
Conversion - (406,702) (709,112)
Balance, September 30, 2022 2,467 - -
Repayment (2,467) - -
Balance, September 30, 2023 Nil - -

On May 17, 2023, the Company closed the first tranche of its previously announced non-brokered
private placement of unsecured convertible notes for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $1-million.
The first tranche closing of the offering comprised the issuance of unsecured convertible notes in the
aggregate principal amount of $276,500. The notes issued in connection with the first tranche closing
will mature on May 16, 2026, and are convertible into units, each consisting of one common share in
the capital of the company and one-half of one share purchase warrant at a conversion price of $0.16
of principal per note. These warrants have a term of 36 months, and entitle the holder to purchase one
share at an exercise price of $0.16 per share. These notes have an interest rate of 12 per cent per
annum, with a minimum of four months of interest accrued regardless of the date of repayment or
conversion of the notes.

The Company allocated $41,740 to the equity component of the convertible note, and $234,760 to the
liability component of the convertible note.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized accretion expense of $4,269
(2022 - $Nil and interest expense of $12,363 (2022 - $Nil). As at September 30, 2023, a total of
$239,028 (September 30, 2022 - $Nil) is outstanding for principal and interest.

13. Promissory Notes

a) On February 28, 2021, in connection with the Share Purchase Agreement (Note 6), the Company
entered into a Promissory Note with a company controlled by the former President of TNET, and
a company controlled by the previous CEO of the Company for a principal amount of $300,000.
The Promissory Note bears interest at a rate of 6% per annum with interest beginning to accrue
on May 1, 2021. The Promissory Note is due on demand and is secured by a General Security
Agreement dated February 28, 2021. During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company
recognized accrued interest of $18,527 (2022 - $18,000) and accrued interest in the amount of
$44,027 (2022 - $18,000) is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. On July 31, 2021
the holders of the Promissory Note entered into a standstill agreement with the Company’s lenders
preventing payment of the Promissory note until such time that the loan is repaid. (Note 12 (c)).
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13. Promissory Notes (continued)

b) On September 30, 2022, the Company entered into a Promissory Note with an arms-length
individual for a principal amount of $100,000. The Promissory Note bears interest at a rate of 1%
per month and is payable in 24 equal instalments, commencing from the first month after closing.
Regulatory approval of this Promissory Note is required, and has not been granted as of
September 30, 2023; therefore, the Promissory Note has been recoded at face value.

$
Balance, September 30, 2021 300,000
Promissory note (September 30, 2022) (b) 100,000
Balance, September 30, 2022 & 2023 400,000

14. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making operating and financial decisions. This
would include the Company’s senior management, who are considered to be key management personnel
by the Company. Parties are also related if they are subject to common control or significant influence.
Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties.

The following table summarizes the compensation of the Company’s key management:

Year Ended Year Ended

September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

$ $

Consulting* 684,210 973,263
Salaries and wages* 618,257 677,541
Share-based compensation 503,074 1,598,117

* Salaries and wages paid to key management personnel are included under general and administrative and research and
development expenses on the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

a)

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $Nil (2022 - $435,684) in advisory
fees and $183,707 (2022 - $65,400) in connectivity services to companies controlled by the previous
CEO of the Company.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $97,470 (2022 - $Nil) in salaries
to the CEO of the Company.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $197,296 (2022 - $151,379) in
advisory fees to a company controlled by the former President of TNET.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $37,500 (2022 - $150,550) in
consulting fees to the previous CTO of the Company.

As at September 30, 2023, the Company owed $300,000 (September 30, 2022 - $300,000) under a
Promissory Note (Note 13(a)) to a company controlled by the former President of TNET and a company
controlled by the previous CEO of the Company.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $141,213 (2022 - $116,250) in
salaries to the CMO of the Company.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $Nil (2022 - $30,900) in consulting
fees to a company controlled by the CMO of the Company.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $16,800 (2022 - $91,500) in
salaries to the previous COO of the Company.
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14. Related Party Transactions (continued)

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $248,914 (2022 - $Nil) in
accounting fees to a company controlled by the previous CFO of the Company

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $41,661 (2022 - $183,333) in
salaries to a former CFO of the Company

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $149,782 (2022 - $203,125) in
salaries to a former CRO of the Company.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $171,330 (2022 - $83,333) in
salaries to the previous CRO of the Company.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $40,000 (2022 - $2,500) in
consulting fees to a company controlled by a director of the Company.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $40,500 (2022 - $147,000) in
advisory fees to a director of the Company.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $42,500 (2022 - $Nil) in advisory
fees to a director of the Company.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $43,500 (2022 - $Nil) in advisory
fees to a director of the Company.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred $34,000 (2022 - $Nil) in advisory
fees to a director of the Company.

As at September 30, 2023, $695,569 (2022 - $85,871) is payable to related parties. These amounts are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.

As at September 30, 2023, the Company owed $265,090 (2022 - $57,750) to the CEO of the Company.
Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.

As at September 30, 2023, the Company owed $Nil (2022 - $171) to the previous COO of the
Company. Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.

As at September 30, 2023, the Company owed $200,000 (2022 - $3,730) to companies controlled by
previous CEO of the Company. Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.

As at September 30, 2023, the Company owed $Nil (2022- $12,500) to the previous CTO of the
Company. Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.

As at September 30, 2023, the Company owed $241,645 (2022 - $11,720) to a company controlled
by the previous President of TNET. Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.

As at September 30, 2023, the Company owed $28,333 (2022 - $Nil) to the CMO of the Company.
Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.

As at September 30, 2023, the Company owed $40,500 (2022 - $Nil) to a director of the Company.
Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.

As at September 30, 2023, the Company owed $42,500 (2022 - $Nil) to a director of the Company.
Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.

As at September 30, 2023, the Company owed $43,500 (2022 - $Nil) to a director of the Company.
Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.

As at September 30, 2023, the Company owed $34,000 (2022 - $Nil) to a director of the Company.
Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company agreed to settle accounts payable and
accrued liabilities of $41,478 with a company controlled by the previous CEO of the Company for
settlement debt payable of $200,000, which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as
of September 30, 2023. A loss on debt settlement of $158,521 has been recorded for this transaction.
The debt may be settled by cash or shares.
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15. Derivative warrant liabilities

a)

On May 1, 2021, the Company issued 3,500,000 common share purchase warrants exercisable at a
price equal to the lesser of $0.25 per share or a discount of 16.67% from an IPO or RTO/QT transaction
financing price, or the RTO/QT vend-in price. The warrants expire on the earlier of September 14,
2028 and five years following the listing of the Company should the Company complete an IPO, or five
years following the closing date should a successor company acquire the Company by way of a
reverse takeover or qualifying transaction (“RTO/QT”). If the Company completes an IPO or RTO/QT
transaction, there will be variability in the amount of proceeds receivable upon the exercise of the
warrants. At initial recognition on May 1, 2021, the Company recorded a derivative warrant liability of
$1,406,469 based on the estimated fair value of the warrants. On February 14, 2022, the Company
increased the value of the derivative warrant liability to $1,517,593 and realized a loss on revaluation
of $24,202. Effective February 14, 2022, the price of the warrants was fixed at $0.25 per share
pursuant to the terms of a replacement warrant certificate, based on the RTO/QT transaction price
being determined at $0.56 per share. The value of the derivative warrant liability of $1,517,593 was
reallocated from derivative warrant liability to warrant reserve during the year ended September 30,
2022.

On July 30, 2021, the Company issued 1,730,797 share purchase warrants as part of a debt financing
cost relating to a loan agreement (Note 12(c)). The warrants are exercisable at $0.48 per warrant and
expire on July 30, 2027, subject to earlier accelerated exercise if the shares have traded and continue
to trade on a public exchange at a 30-day volume-weighted average purchase price per share of $1.25.
The warrant holders shall have the right to pay all or a portion of the Purchase Price (exercise price
multiplied by the number of shares being exercised) by making a cashless exercise. In a cashless
exercise, the portion of the Purchase Price shall be paid by reducing the number of warrant shares
otherwise issuable pursuant to the notice of cash exercise by an amount equal to:

Exercise price to be so paid divided by the fair market value per warrant share determined by the
Board of Directors of the Company as of the business day immediately preceding the date of exercise.
As a result of the cashless exercise, there is a variable number of shares to be issued upon the
exercise of the warrants.

At initial recognition on July 30, 2021, the Company recorded a derivative warrant liability of $706,841
based on the estimated fair value of the warrants.

On May 17, 2023, the Company modified the 1,730,797 share purchase warrants, and, as a
replacement, issued the lenders non-transferable warrants entitling them to purchase an aggregate of
2,775,001 common shares at a price of $0.20 per share until the earlier of: (i) one year from the date
of issuance; and (ii) a date which the company elects, on 30 days written notice to the lenders, if the
common shares have traded on a public exchange (including the TSX Venture Exchange) at a volume-
weighted average price equal to or greater than $0.60 per share for a period of at least 10 consecutive
trading days.

Upon modification on May 17, 2023, the Company recorded a derivative warrant liability of $49,018
(Note 17) based on the estimated fair value of the warrants.

As at September 30, 2023, the Company revalued the derivative warrants to an estimated fair value
of $3,803 (2022 - $Nil). The Company recorded a decrease in the estimated fair value of the derivative
warrant liability of $45,215 for the year ended September 30, 2023 (2022 - $Nil).

On December 1, 2021, the Company issued a three-year convertible note with a principal amount of
$1,000,000 (Note 12(d)). The note was convertible into common shares of the Company at the option
of the holder at a price equal to the lesser of $0.48 per common share and a 15% reduction to the QT
transaction price.

In connection with the note, the Company issued 500,000 share purchase warrants. The warrants are
exercisable at $0.48 per warrant or a discount of 15% from an QT transaction financing price and
expire on November 30, 2024. The warrant holder may elect to reduce the number of warrants in order
to affect the cashless exercise of the warrants based on the fair market value of the Company’s
common shares.
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15. Derivative warrant liabilities (continued)

c) As a result of the conversion price and the warrant exercise price being variable and also due to the

cashless exercise feature of the warrants, the number of shares that may be issued is not fixed and
therefore both the conversion feature of the note and the warrants are classified as a derivative liability.
At the time of issue, the Company recorded derivative liabilities of $634,742 for the conversion feature
(Note 12 (d)) and $152,338 for the warrants.

On April 4, 2022, the promissory note was converted into common shares and the embedded
conversion feature was extinguished. For the year ended September 30, 2022, the Company revalued
the derivative liabilities and reported a loss in the fair value of the conversion feature to April 4, 2022
in the amount of $74,370. As at September 30, 2023, the Company revalued the derivative warrants
to an estimated fair value of $3,801 and a gain in fair value of the warrants in the amount of $38,971
for the year ended September 30, 2023 (2022 - $111,494).

The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of the derivative warrant liabilities
during the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022.

2023 2022
Annualized volatility 57% - 114% 103% - 127%
Risk-free interest rate 1.26% - 4.83% 1.10 - 3.27
Life of warrants in years 0.69 - 1.17 4.83 -6.59
Dividend rate - -
Market price $0.09 - $0.11 $0.48-$0.56
Fair value per warrant $Nil - $0.0177 $0.31-0.38
July 30, 2021, Warrants as modified
on May 17, 2023
# of warrants $
Balance, September 30, 2021 1,730,797 703,953
Fair value change on derivative warrant liability - (405,952)
Balance, September 30, 2022 1,730,797 298,001
Modified during the year 1,044,204 -
Fair value change on derivative warrant liability - 294,198
Balance, September 30, 2023 2,775,001 3,803
December 1, 2021, Warrants
# of warrants $
Balance, September 30, 2021 - -
Additions 500,000 152,338
Fair value change on derivative warrant liability - (111,494)
Balance, September 30, 2022 500,000 40,844
Fair value change on derivative warrant liability - (38,971)
Balance, September 30, 2023 500,000 1,873
July 30, 2021,

Warrants as
modified on December 1, 2021,

May 17, 2023 Warrants Total
Balance, September 30, 2022 298,001 40,844 338,845
Fair value change on derivative
warrant liability (294,198) (38,971) (333,169)
Balance, September 30, 2023 3,803 1,873 5,676
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16. Share Capital

a) Authorized:

b)

d)

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares without par value.

Issued Share Capital:

As at September 30, 2023 there were 104,605,243 common shares issued and outstanding
(September 30, 2022 - 68,865,009).

Shares issued during the year ended September 30, 2023

On May 25, 2023, the Company entered into a debt settlement agreement with a consultant
of the Company to settle $32,126 of debt by issuing 200,784 shares with a deemed value of
$0.16 in connection with services provided by the consultant dated May 11, 2023.

The Company closed 2 tranches of a private placement. A total of 35,000,000 units were
issued at a price of $0.10 per unit for gross proceeds of $3,559,340. Each unit is composed of
one common share of the company and one common share purchase warrant. Each warrant
issued entitles the holder thereof to purchase one additional common share at a price of $0.14
per share, subject to adjustment in certain events, until August 22, 2026. Cash commission
and disbursements of $148,877 were paid along with the issuance of 539,395 shares and
539,450 share purchase warrants for finders.

Shares Issued during the year ended September 30, 2022

805,731 shares were issued pursuant to the net exercise of employee stock options for gross
proceeds of $130,148.

324,928 shares were issued to settle debts outstanding of $181,957 to third parties. There
was no gain or loss recorded on the settlement.

On April 4, 2022, 2,083,334 common shares were issued at a price of $0.48 per share on
conversion of a $1,000,000 convertible promissory note (Note 12(d)).

Concurrently with the RTO, on June 16, 2022, 5,910,627 common shares were issued upon
conversion of subscription receipts. Each subscription receipt was automatically converted
upon completion of the Company’s RTO into one common share and one half of one common
share purchase warrant, each whole warrant entitling the holder to acquire one common share
of the Company. The proceeds of the private placement were $3,309,951 and were allocated
to share capital (Notes 5, 16).

On June 16, 2022, the Company was deemed to have issued 2,047,155 common shares at a
fair value of $1,146,407 for the issued and outstanding shares immediately prior to the RTO
(Note 5).

Escrow Shares:

Pursuant to the RTO, 23,389,876 common shares are subject to escrow conditions:

2,260,771 common shares were released upon closing the RTO and the remainder of
20,346,936 will be released in six equal instalments every six months thereafter.

195,542 common shares were released upon closing the RTO and the remainder of 586,627
will be released in three equal instalments every six months thereafter.
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16. Share Capital (continued)

e) On May 17, 2023, the Company closed the first tranche of its previously announced non-brokered
private placement of unsecured convertible notes for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $1-million.
The first tranche closing of the offering comprised the issuance of unsecured convertible notes in the
aggregate principal amount of $276,500. The notes issued in connection with the first tranche closing
will mature on May 16, 2026, and are convertible into units, each consisting of one common share in
the capital of the company and one-half of one share purchase warrant at a conversion price of $0.16
of principal per note. These warrants have a term of 36 months, and entitle the holder to purchase one
share at an exercise price of $0.16 per share. These notes have an interest rate of 12 per cent per
annum, with a minimum of four months of interest accrued regardless of the date of repayment or
conversion of the notes.

The Company allocated $41,740 to the equity component of the convertible note, and $234,760 to the
liability component of the convertible note.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized accretion expense of $4,269
(2022 - $Nil and interest expense of $12,363 (2022 - $Nil). As at September 30, 2023, a total of
$239,028 (September 30, 2022 - $Nil) is outstanding for principal and interest.

17. Share Purchase Warrants

Under the terms of the amalgamation, all prior 3,500,000 outstanding warrants exercisable into shares of
MNI (“MNI Warrants”) were converted into 1,750,000 warrants to purchase Amalco common shares on a
0.5 to one basis with the same terms and conditions of the outstanding MNI Warrants except with an
exercise price of $0.30. In addition, all prior 2,261,617 outstanding warrants exercisable into shares of
TTGI were cancelled for no consideration.

On May 1, 2021, the Company amended the terms of the warrants to increase the number of warrants
outstanding from 1,750,000 to 3,500,000 for a period which is the greater of: (i) five years following the
listing of the Company’s shares; and (ii) September 14, 2028. The exercise price is amended from $0.15
per share to the lesser of: (i) $0.25 per share; and (ii) a discount of 16.67% form the IPO or RTO/QT
financing price, or the RTO/QT vend-in price. The amended warrants are fully vested. The modification of
the warrants was valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and resulted in $1,406,469 being
recognized as consulting expenses. Weighted average assumptions used in calculating the fair value of
the modification of warrants on May 1, 2021 are as follows:

Risk-free rate 1.35%

Dividend yield -

Volatility* 129%

Expected forfeitures -

Weighted average expected life of the options (year) 7.38
*As the Company was not publicly traded at the time of modification, volatility was estimated using publicly traded comparable
companies.

On July 30, 2021, the Company issued 1,730,797 share purchase warrants in relation to the issuance of
a loan. The fair value was determined to be $706,841 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and
was recognized as debt financing costs, which will be amortized over the life of the related loan payable
(Note 12(c)). Weighted average assumptions used in calculating the fair value of the warrants on July 30,
2021 are as follows:

Risk-free rate 1.10%

Dividend yield -

Volatility* 116%

Expected forfeitures -

Weighted average expected life of the options (year) 6.00
*As the Company was not publicly traded at the time of modification, volatility was estimated using publicly traded comparable
companies.
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17. Share Purchase Warrants (continued)

On December 1, 2021, the Company issued 500,000 warrants to an individual in connection with a
promissory note (Note 15 (c)). These warrants have an exercise price of $0.48 per warrant and an expiry
date of November 30, 2024. A fair value of $40,844 was assigned to these warrants, calculated using a
share price of $0.48, remaining life of 2.17 years, volatility of 103.56%, dividend rate of 0% and a risk-free
rate of 3.69%.

On April 6, 2022, the Company issued 344,475 warrants to brokers as a part of a financing concurrent with
the RTO. These warrants have an exercise price of $0.56 and an expiry date of April 8, 2024. A value of
$70,405 was assigned to these warrants, calculated using a share price of $0.56, remaining life of 1.81
years, volatility of 103.71%, dividend rate of 0% and a risk-free rate of 2.35%.

On June 16, 2022, the Company issued 2,955,314 warrants as a part of the RTO. These warrants have an
exercise price of $0.75 per warrant and an expiry date of April 8, 2024. A fair value of $Nil was assigned to
these warrants, calculated using a share price of $0.56, remaining life of 2.01 years, volatility of 113.71%,
dividend rate of 0% and a risk-free rate of 3.27%.

On May 10, 2023, the Company entered into a termination agreement with a consultant, and issued 112,500
warrants with a fair value of $16,875. These Warrants issued are exercisable into common shares of the
Company with an exercise price of $0.15 for a period of 12 months. A fair value of $7,598 (Note 18) was
assigned to these warrants, calculated using a share price of $0.16, exercise price of $0.15, remaining life
of 1.00 years, volatility of 102.36%, dividend rate of 0% and a risk-free rate of 3.68%.

On May 17, 2023, the Company closed the first tranche of its previously announced non-brokered private
placement of unsecured convertible notes for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $1 Million. The first tranche
closing of the offering comprised the issuance of unsecured convertible notes in the aggregate principal
amount of $276,500. The notes issued in connection with the first tranche closing will mature on May 186,
2026, and are convertible into units, each consisting of one common share in the capital of the company
and one-half of one share purchase warrant at a conversion price of $0.16 of principal per note. These
warrants have a term of 36 months, and entitle the holder to purchase one share at an exercise price of
$0.16 per share. No value was assigned to these warrants based on the residual value approach.

On May 17, 2023, the Company modified the 1,730,797 share purchase warrants issued July 30, 2021 for
a loan, and, as a replacement, issued the lenders non-transferable warrants entitling them to purchase an
aggregate of 2,775,001 common shares at a price of $0.20 per share until the earlier of: (i) one year from
the date of issuance; and (ii) a date which the company elects, on 30 days written notice to the lenders, if
the common shares have traded on a public exchange (including the TSX Venture Exchange) at a volume-
weighted average price equal to or greater than $0.60 per share for a period of at least 10 consecutive
trading days. A fair value of $49,018 was assigned to these warrants, calculated using a share price of
$0.11, exercise price of $0.20, remaining life of 1.00 years, volatility of 83.81%, dividend rate of 0% and a
risk-free rate of 4.40%.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company closed 2 tranches of a private placement. A total
of 35,000,000 units were issued at a price of $0.10 per unit for gross proceeds of $3,500,000. Each unit is
composed of one common share of the company and one common share purchase warrant. Each warrant
issued entitles the holder thereof to purchase one additional common share at a price of $0.14 per share,
subject to adjustment in certain events, until August 22, 2026. No value was assigned to these warrants
based on the residual value approach. Cash commission and disbursements of $148,877 were paid along
with the issuance of 539,395 shares and 539,450 share purchase warrants for finders, and 1,297,750
warrants for brokers.
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17. Share Purchase Warrants (continued)

The following table summarizes the continuity of share purchase warrants:

Number of Weighted Average
Warrants Exercise Price
$
Balance, September 30, 2021 7,161,337 0.43
Issued:
Share purchase warrants, convertible debt 500,000 0.48
June 16, 2022: issuance of subscription receipt financing 2,955,314 0.75
June 16, 2022: issuance of broker warrants 344,475 0.56
Balance, September 30, 2022 10,961,125 0.52
Issued:
May 10, 2023: debt settlement 112,500 0.15
May 17, 2023: issuance of convertible debt 864,063 0.16
June 8, 2023: replacement of lender warrants 2,775,001 0.20
Private placement of units 35,539,450 0.14
Private placement of units - broker warrants 1,297,750 0.14
Expired/Cancelled/Replaced: (3,661,336) 0.61
Balance, September 30, 2023 47,888,553 0.20
Exercisable, September 30, 2023 47,888,553 0.20

The following table summarizes information about warrants outstanding and exercisable at September 30,

2023:
Warrants Outstanding Exercise Price Expiry Date
$
344,475 0.56 March 25, 2024
2,955,314 0.75 April 8, 2024
112,500 0.15 May 10, 2024
2,775,001 0.20 (MJune 8, 2024
500,000 0.48 November 30, 2024
864,063 0.16 May 17, 2026
1,004,450 0.14 August 3, 2026
35,539,450 0.14 August 22, 2026
293,300 0.14 August 22, 2026
3,500,000 0.25 @September 14, 2028
47,888,553

() Expiry date is the earlier of (i) one year from the date of issuance; and (ii) a date which the company elects, on 30 days written
notice to the lenders, if the common shares have traded on a public exchange (including the TSX Venture Exchange) at a volume-
weighted average price equal to or greater than $0.60 per share for a period of at least 10 consecutive trading days.

@ On February 14, 2022, the exercise price of the warrants became fixed and the warrant value of $1,517,593 was reallocated from
derivative warrant liability to warrant reserve. (Note 15 (a)). Expiry date is the earlier of (i) September 22, 2028; and (ii) five years
following the listing of the Company should the Company complete an IPO, or five years following the closing date should a
successor company acquire the Company by way of a reverse takeover or qualifying transaction (“‘RTO/QT”).
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18. Stock Options

Options to purchase common shares may be granted to directors, consultants, officers and employees of
the Company and its subsidiary for terms up to 10 years at a price at least equal to the market price
prevailing on the date of the grant.

On November 26, 2021, the Company granted 8,601,069 options to employees and consultants. These
options have an exercise price of $0.48 per option and an expiry date of November 26, 2026, and vest
over three years. A value of $3,513,517 was assigned to these options, calculated using a share price of
$0.48, remaining life of five years, volatility of 127.45%, dividend rate of 0% and a risk-free rate of 1.37%

On June 16, 2022, the Company granted 204,000 options to consultants. These options have an exercise
price of $0.56 per option and an expiry date of June 16, 2027, and vest over three years. A value of
$53,909 was assigned to these options, calculated using a share price of $0.48, remaining life of five
years, volatility of 125.85%, dividend rate of 0% and a risk-free rate of 3.30%

On July 25, 2022, the Company issued 1,150,000 options to directors and consultants. These options
have an exercise price of $0.56 per option and an expiry date of July 25, 2027. A value of $301,490 was
assigned to these options, calculated using a share price of $0.56, remaining life of five years, volatility of
124.67%, dividend rate of 0% and a risk-free rate of 2.85%

On April 20, 2023, the Company’s board of directors approved the grant of 1.75 million stock options to
directors, officers, employees and consultants. The options have an exercise price of $0.15, an expiry
date of 5 years, and shall vest monthly over a period of 12 months. A value of $222,035, out of which
$83,009 relates stock options vested during the year, was assigned to these options, calculated using a
share price of $0.155, remaining life of five years, volatility of 114.79%, dividend rate of 0% and a risk-
free rate of 3.08%

The continuity of stock options for the year ended September 30, 2023 is as follows:

Number of Options Weighted Average

Exercise Price

$

Balance, September 30, 2021 4,257,068 0.16
Granted 9,955,069 0.49
Expired (124,368) 0.15
Forfeited (2,140,272) 0.31
Net exercise of options" (805,731) 0.23
Balance, September 30, 2022 11,141,766 0.42
Granted 1,750,000 0.15
Cancelled/expired (4,516,326) 0.48
Balance, September 30, 2023 8,375,440 0.30
Exercisable, September 30, 2023 5,720,616 0.28

(1)805,731 common shares were issued on the net exercise of options.
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18.

19.

20.

Stock Options (continued)

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as at September 30, 2023:

Weighted Average

Exercise Number of Number of Remaining
Price Options Options Contracted Life

$ Expiry Date Outstanding Exercisable (Years)

0.10 August 4, 2026 1,467,391 1,467,391 2.85
0.15 August 4, 2026 600,000 600,000 2.85
0.48 November 26, 2026* 3,204,049 1,949,225 3.16
0.56 June 16, 2027* 204,000 204,000 3.71
0.28 July 26, 2027* 1,150,000 625,000 3.82
0.15 April 13, 2028* 1,750,000 875,000 4.54
8,375,440 5,720,616 3.47

Share-based compensation expense is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. During
year ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized share-based compensation expense of
$951,516 (2022 - $2,132,972), out of which $943,918 (2022 - $2,132,972) pertains to options and $7,598
(2022 - $Nil) pertains to warrants. The Company recognizes compensation expense using the graded
vesting method over the requisite service period for each separately vesting tranche of the award.

Capital Management

The Company manages its capital to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern and to provide

returns to shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders. The capital structure of the Company consists
of equity comprised of issued share capital, share-based payment reserve, common stock subscribed,
loans, and deficit.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of economic conditions.
The Company, upon approval from its board of directors, will balance its overall capital structure through
new equity issuances or by undertaking other activities as deemed appropriate under the specific
circumstances.

As at September 30, 2022, the Company was subject to externally imposed financial covenants and certain
restrictions with a loan agreement dated July 30, 2021 (Note 12(c)). As of September 30, 2022, the
Company is in default of the financial covenants of the loan with the Lenders (Note 12(c)). During the year
ended September 30, 2023, this loan was repaid.

The Company’s overall strategy with respect to capital risk management remains unchanged from the year
ended September 30, 2022.
Commitments and Contingencies

The Company had no significant commitments or contractual obligations with any parties respecting
executive compensation, consulting arrangements, or other matters. Management services provided are
on a month-to-month basis. Refer to Note 11 for minimum lease payments.

The Company is also contractually committed to a schedule of loan and interest repayments and
requirements under its loans and promissory notes outstanding. Refer to Notes 11 and 12 for minimum
interest and loan payments.
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21. Financial Instruments and Risk Management

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument and related risks. Those

risks and management’s approach to mitigating those risks are as follows:

(a) Fair Values

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value
hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three

levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

e Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
e Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either

directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 - Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are presented on the

Company’s consolidated statement of financial position as of September 30, 2023 as follows:

Financial Assets

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant

Markets for Other Significant

Balance as at Identical Observable Unobservable

September 30, Assets Inputs Inputs

2023 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

$ $ $ $

Cash and cash equivalents 152,882 152,882 - -

Total 152,882 152,882 - -
Financial Liabilities Quoted Prices

in Active Significant

Markets for Other Significant

Balance as at Identical Observable Unobservable

September 30, Assets Inputs Inputs

2023 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

$ $ $ $

Derivative warrant liabilities (Note 15)* 5,676 - - 5,676

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,634,252 - 1,634,252 -

(Note 14)

Due to related parties (Note 14) 695,569 - 695,569 -

Promissory notes (Note 13, 14) 400,000 - 400,000 -

Loans payable (Note 12) 419,029 - 419,029 -

Lease liabilities (Note 11) 720,677 - - 720,677

Total 3,875,203 - 3,148,850 726,353

*The change in fair value of the Company’s derivative warrant liabilities (classified as Level 3) is disclosed
in Note 15. The liabilities are remeasured at year-end using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

There were no transfers between the levels during the year.

The carrying value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities, except for derivative warrant liabilities
(classified as FVTPL), are classified as amortized cost as at September 30, 2023. The fair values of
financial instruments, which include cash, amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
due to related parties, promissory notes and loans payable, and lease liabilities approximate their carrying
values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these instruments.

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board
of Directors approves and monitors the risk management processes, inclusive of documented investment
policies, counterparty limits, and controlling and reporting structures.
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21. Financial Instruments and Risk Management (continued)

(@)

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and
cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is in its cash and
receivables. Cash is held with major banks in Canada and the United States, which are high credit
quality financial institutions as determined by rating agencies. The carrying amount of financial assets
represents the maximum credit exposure.

Amounts Receivable

Amounts receivable consists of trade receivable of $392,434 (2022 - $525,196). To reduce the credit
risk of amounts receivable, the Company regularly reviews the collectability of the amounts receivable
to ensure there is no indication that these amounts will not be fully recoverable. As at September 30,
2023, the Company recognized a provision for bad debts of $Nil (September 30, 2022 - $Nil) in
accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments.

During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized bad debts of $Nil (2022 - $Nil),
which are included under general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss.

Currency Risk

The Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar. Currency risk is the risk that the fair value
of the Company’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in foreign currency exchange
rates. The Company’s head office and operating expenses are mainly denominated in Canadian
dollars. Some of the Company’s revenue is denominated in US dollars. If the US dollar depreciates
compared to the Canadian dollar revenue would decrease in Canadian dollars. The Company is
exposed to foreign currency risk to the extent that the following monetary assets and liabilities are
denominated in US dollars:

September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

Balance in US dollars: $ $
Cash 30,605 128,365
Amounts receivable 125,083 123,828
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (28,072) (21,381)
Net exposure 127,616 230,812
Balance in Canadian dollars: 172,022 291,204

A 10% change in the US dollar to the Canadian dollar exchange rate would impact the Company’s net
loss by approximately $17,202 for the year ended September 30, 2023 (2022 - $29,120).

Interest Rate Risk

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash
balances at variable rates and its short-term term deposits at prescribed market rates. The fair value
of the Company’s cash is not significantly affected by changes in short-term interest rates. The income
earned from the bank accounts and short-term term deposits is subject to movements in interest rates.
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21. Financial Instruments and Risk Management (continued)

(d) Liquidity and Funding Risk

Liquidity risk arises through the excess of financial obligations over available financial assets due at
any point in time. The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily
available capital in order to meet its liquidity requirements. Management maintains sufficient cash to
satisfy short-term liabilities in highly liquid investments.

Funding risk is the risk that market conditions will impact the Company’s ability to raise capital through
equity markets under acceptable terms and conditions. A summary of the Company’s obligations is as

follows:
Carrying  Contractual 1 year or
amount cash flows less 1-5 years
As at September 30, 2023 $ $ $ $
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities 1,634,252 1,634,252 1,634,252 -
Due to related parties (Note 14) 695,569 695,569 695,569 -
Promissory notes (Note 13) 400,000 400,000 400,000 -
Loans payable (Note 12) 419,029 456,500 - 456,500
Lease payments (Note 11) 720,677 929,453 261,836 667,617
3,869,527 4,115,774 3,171,657 944,117
Carrying Contractual 1 year or
amount cash flows less 1-5 years
As at September 30, 2022 $ $ $ $
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities 1,396,163 1,396,163 1,396,163 -
Due to related parties (Note 14) 85,871 85,871 85,871 -
Promissory notes (Note 13) 400,000 400,000 400,000 -
Loans payable (Note 12) 2,002,268 2,030,000 2,030,000 -
Lease payments (Note 11) 708,308 986,880 220,485 784,513
4,592,610 4,898,914 4,114,401 784,513

As at September 30, 2023, the Company had cash of $152,882 (2022 - $608,969) to settle current
liabilities of $3,030,360 (2022 - $3,884,578) to fund ongoing operations. As noted in Note 1, there are
factors which indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may raise significant doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

22. Expenses by Nature

Expenses for the year ended September 30, 2023 were comprised as follows:

Generaland  Research and Sales and

administrative development marketing

$ $ $

Personnel 1,751,256 1,081,303 1,068,628
Consulting 63,174 41,865 354,334
Office expense 294,300 67,100 93,912
Professional fees 887,203 - -
Tradeshow and travel 13,563 10,292 2,304
Marketing and communications 101,923 7,727 400,332
Totals 3,111,419 1,208,287 1,919,383

39



TURNIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

22. Expenses by Nature (continued)

Expenses for the year ended September 30, 2022 were comprised as follows:

Generaland  Research and Sales and

administrative development marketing

$ $ $

Personnel 2,018,387 868,028 878,347
Consulting 160,700 201,144 433,468
Office expense 333,134 91,508 140,654
Professional fees 873,474 - -
Tradeshow and travel 21,178 33,459 137,833
Marketing and communications 87,466 4,187 233,981
Totals 3,494,339 1,198,326 1,824,283

23. Interest and Accretion Expense

Interest expenses incurred for the year ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

September 30, September 30,
2023 2022
$ $
Interest
Lease obligations (Note 11) 102,194 30,458
Loan payable (Note 12(c)) 196,455 235,875
Loan payable (Note 12(d)) - 42,467
Promissory note (Note 13) 18,527 18,000
Penalties 50,555 -
Convertible note (Note 12(f)) 12,363 -
Accretion
Accretion of CEBA loan payable (Note 12(a)) 21,808 18,538
Accretion of loan payable (Note 12(c)) - 778,567
Accretion of loan payable (Note 12(d)) - 97,087
Accretion of convertible note (Note 12(f)) 4,269 -
Finance costs
Loan payable (Note 12(c)) 31,705 -
Convertible note (Note 12(f)) 5,250 -
In relation to share issues (Note 16) 161,561 -
604,687 1,220,992
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24. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

$ $

Common shares issued upon the settlement of loans payable - 1,000,000
Common shares issued upon the settlement of accounts payable 32,126 181,957
Share-based compensation relating to granting of warrants 7,598 -
Share-based compensation relating to granting of options 943,918 2,132,972
Interest paid 380,093 310,550

25. Segmented Information

Operating segments are components of an entity that engage in business activities from which they earn
revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses related to transactions with the other
component(s)), the operations of which can be clearly distinguished and for which the operating results
are regularly reviewed by a chief operating decision-maker to make resource allocation decisions and to
assess performance.

The Company’s operations consist of two operating and reportable segments, being Tenacious Networks
Inc., and Turnium Network Solutions Inc.

Tenacious Turnium Corporate, Total,
Networks Inc. Network Year Ended Year Ended
Year Ended  Solutions Inc. September 30, September 30,
September 30, Year Ended 2023 2023
2023 September 30,
2023
$ $ $ $
Revenue 1,955,538 3,257,095 - 5,212,633
Cost of good sold (1,441,917) (167,472) - (1,609,389)
Gross profit 513,621 3,089,623 - 3,603,244
Operating Expenses 594,933 5,346,145 1,471,899 7,412,977
Gain(Loss) before other income (81,312) (2,256,522) (1,471,899) (3,809,733)
Other income (loss) - (225,374) 26,496 (198,878)
Loss before income taxes (81,312) (2,481,895) (1,445,403) (4,008,610)
Deferred income tax recovery - - - -
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the (81,312) (2,481,895) (1,445,403) (4,008,610)
period
Total Assets 142,420 2,556,509 205,177 2,904,106
Total Liabilities 347,088 3,397,124 348,899 4,093,111

The Company’s net assets are geographically located in Canada.
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26. Income Taxes

The Company is subject to statutory income tax rates of 27%. The income tax provision differs from the
amounts that would be obtained by applying the Canadian statutory income tax rate to net income (loss)
before taxes as follows:

September 30, September 30,

2023 2022

$ $

Net loss for the year (4,008,610) (7,294,627)

Statutory income tax rate 27.00% 27.00%

Expected income tax recovery at statutory tax rate (1,082,325) (1,969,549)
Tax effect of:

Permanent differences and other 284,159 1,013,452

Change in tax benefits not recognized (10,615) (428,901)

Increase in valuation allowance 808,781 1,384,998

Income tax provision - deferred - -

The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as at September 30, 2023 and 2022 are

as follows:
September 30, September 30,
2023 2022
$ $
Non-capital losses carried forward 3,287,948 2,494,742
Other 168,979 153,404
Deferred tax assets 3,456,927 2,648,146
Unrecognized deductible temporary differences (3,456,927) (2,648,146)

Total deferred tax assets - -

As at September 30, 2023, the Company has non-capital losses carried forward of $10,302,146 in Canada
which are available to offset future years’ taxable income. These losses expire as follows:

Total

2033 327,860
2034 584,005
2035 666,320
2036 306,339
2037 15,089
2038 521,559
2039 374,736
2040 642,965
2041 1,555,980
2042 2,365,643
2043 2,941,650
10,302,146

27. Subsequent Events

On October 4, 2023, the Company’s board of directors has authorized the grant of an aggregate of 3.1
million incentive stock options to directors, officers and employees of the company, at an exercise price
of $0.10 per common share. The options are exercisable for a five-year period from the date of grant, with
a vesting term of either immediately or one year. The options are exercisable for a five-year period from
the date of grant. Certain grants will be subject to vesting terms in accordance with the terms of the option
plan.
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27. Subsequent Events (continued)
On December 11, 2023, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a third party for proceeds of
$250,000. The proceeds will be used for operating purposes. This loan is repayable in 60 monthly

payments starting November 2024, carries a floating interest rate (currently at 9.3%), and is secured by a
general security agreement on the Company’s assets.
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